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cancelled the sale after
staff work that had gone into it.
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retirement, considering the amount of

Record Reviews
BLM File for Lindrith Land Sale
Documents found in BLM’s file for the proposed Lindrith land sale confirm that
initiated the
sale. In an October 1, 2008 email to BLM Farmington Office Land and Renewable Resources
wrote (Attachment 21):
We have done much of the preliminary work for the two sales, one in Lindrith of 160
acres on the
allotment and the other on Crouch Mesa near the existing landfill. I
want to proceed with both, hopefully under the Baca [FLTFA] legislation, where we can use
some Baca funds to prepare these tracts. Both have existing cultural (with the exception of a
small piece of the Lindrith tract that
is going to look at), and appear consistent with our
[Land Use Plan].
does a good job for us on these actions, and perhaps he could take the
lead. Please work with your staff to move these forward ASA practical. Thanks.
On January 13, 2009,
completed a cultural resource Record of Review for a project named
Land Disposal” (Attachment 22). Based on his October 10, 2008 inventory of 15 acres of
land (T26N, R2W, Section 17: NE) and his prior inventories,
determined that no historic
properties existed at the site. His report recommended that BLM proceed with the transfer of 160
surface acres to private ownership.
The land sale file, a two-page, undated document titled “Briefing Paper NM 121548 Modified Direct
Sale” (Attachment 23), had an attached color map depicting the proposed sale location (Attachment
24). The briefing paper provided the following information (see Attachment 23):
•
•
•
•
•

The land sale was consistent with the resource management plan (RMP) for the area and
would “avoid conflicts from unauthorized users trespassing on adjacent private land.
Previous conflicts resulted in the killing of Freeman Davis.”
The proposed sale was a modified direct sale to the adjacent landowner.
The land disposal would improve BLM’s area management and alleviate trespass issues.
BLM would use FLTFA monies to pay processing costs, environmental assessment, and
appraisal costs. Some processing costs might be shared with the proponent.
Access to public lands would not be enhanced or diminished by the sale.

On March 10, 2009, BLM Farmington Office
sent
the state office’s
, a completed nomination package for the disposal of 160 acres
under FLTFA (Attachment 25). BLM’s costs were estimated at $44,100, with no financial
contribution from the proponent. The following justification was provided for the sale:
This action is being proposed is to implement disposal actions constant with the Resource
Management Plan and to avoid conflicts from unauthorized users trespassing on adjacent
private land. Previous conflicts resulted in the killing of Freeman Davis.
On April 27, 2009, BLM staff completed an environmental site assessment preliminary analysis,
indicating current property use as “wildlife habitat, livestock grazing, and [oil and gas] development”
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of lands, generally through exchange or sale, if the opportunity arose, without having to do a protracted
amendment to the plan. In addition, having the lands identified in the RMP for possible future
exchange or sale did not require that such activities had to occur.
explained that each proposed
land disposal action had to pass the litmus test of being in the public’s best interest. Once he knew that
the proposed Lindrith land sale was not in the public’s interest,
cancelled the sale.
Public Access to County Road 402
We investigated the issue of public access to the 160 sale acres and determined that County Road 402
provided daily, public access. Interviewees
and
, officials employed by the
Jicarilla Apache Tribe Department of Game and Fish, noted that County Road 402 briefly crosses
Jicarilla Apache reservation lands before entering BLM lands in the Lindrith area (Attachment 66).
and
told us that the public would not have to trespass on reservation land to access
BLM lands in Lindrith since County Road 402 was considered an open access road and, therefore,
created no trespass issues for the public.
reported that while the tribe requires public
hunters, as well as non-hunters carrying firearms, to unload their guns when entering the reservation,
tribal law enforcement does not stop the public from accessing County Road 402.
provided a
copy of the “Jicarilla Apache Nation 2011-2012 Non-Tribal Member Hunting Proclamation,”
explaining that the proclamation was renewed each hunting season and that it established the rules for
non-tribal hunters on tribal lands.
noted that the proclamation identified County Road 402 as one
of the roads that individuals hunting on surrounding lands could use to cross the reservation. A sign
posted where County Road 402 crosses onto Jicarilla lands in Rio Arriba reads (Attachment 67):
Entering Jicarilla Apache Indian Reservation. Unlawful to hunt, fish, trespass, pinon harvest,
camp, wood cut/haul, water haul, collect cast antlers, peddling without a valid written tribal permit
in possession. All regulations strictly enforced. Observe all posted signs. Headquarters located in
Dulce, NM. Attention State Hunters, no access beyond this sign. Violators will be prosecuted.
Rio Arriba County Public Works
confirmed that County Road 402 provided
public access to county, Jicarilla, and Federal lands (Attachment 68). He acknowledged that, while the
Jicarillas could eliminate public access by closing County Road 402 where it crossed tribal lands, the
tribe had not done so and enjoyed a cooperative relationship with the county.
also noted that
citizens could petition the county to privatize segments of county roads, but to his knowledge, no one
had petitioned to privatize any portion of County Road 402.
We asked
whether the tribe prohibited public hunters from using County Road 402 where it
entered Jicarilla lands. Specifically, we discussed the Jicarilla sign prohibiting public hunters from
using the road.
stated that, despite the sign, public hunters could use the road. He thought,
however, that the tribe required public hunters to empty their weapons before entering Jicarilla lands.
We re-interviewed
(see Attachments 10 and 11) since he originally told us that no legal public
access to the 160 Lindrith acres existed (see Attachments 7 and 8). He claimed not to know that County
Road 402 was a county road since he did not recall seeing it “marked as such” (see Attachments 10 and
11).
said “well, nobody that I'm aware of ever discussed this being a county road. I mean, I've
worked with the Lindrith community on the county road maps, I don't ever recall that being designated as
a county road.” He said that his “assumption” was that the road had been constructed and operated by “oil
and gas folks” under lease rights and that they had obtained a right of way on BLM and private lands.
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Agent’s note: Because of her grade and position, BLM did not require
to file annual
CFDRs.
Guidance for Completing Confidential Financial Disclosure Reports
CFDR filers receive the following notices and certifications on the forms:
OGE Form 450 Instruction Sheet: PENALTIES - Falsification of information or failure to file
or report information required to be reported may subject you to disciplinary action by your
employing agency or other authority. Knowing and willful falsification of information required
to be reported may also subject you to criminal prosecution.
OGE Form 450: “I certify that the statements I have made on this form and all attached
statements are true, complete, and correct to the best of my knowledge.”
OGE Form 450-A: “I certify that the above statements are true, complete, and correct, to the
best of my knowledge.”
Failure to Disclose Gifts on Confidential Financial Disclosure Reports
CFDRs for calendar years 2007, 2008, and 2009 failed to report gifts from any source,
including the seven private land hunting permits for cow elk provided by
and
between 2007 and 2009 (Attachments 86, 87, and 88).
certified each disclosure form, omitting
these items.
BLM records also disclosed that
completed annual ethics training in 2006, 2007, 2008, and
2009 (Attachment 89). He completed a computer-based training module titled “Ethics Training
Certification” on December 11, 2007. In the “Notes regarding the type of training taken,”
wrote: “Outside invitations,” “Gifts from outside sources,” and “Post Employment Restrictions.”
Again, on September 16, 2009,
completed a certification form, acknowledging ethics training
completion “on or about” September 1, 2009. In the notes section, he wrote: “Good update on several
topics—prohibited sources, post-employment, Hatch Act.”
A Craigslist review (http://albuquerque.craigslist.org) for cow elk tags in Lindrith revealed two listings
for guided hunts during the last week of December 2011valued at $500 each (Attachment 90). Asked
why he failed to disclose such gifts on his CFDR,
said that he considered gifts of food and
refreshments to
and tips to
grandsons as compensation for the tags and overnight
lodging (see Attachments 10 and 11). He denied that he intentionally omitted the information on his forms
and added: “Direct payment was offered, it was declined . . . So I handled it in a manner that I am
personally comfortable with.”
Failure of

and Her Husband to Disclose Gifts on CFDR Forms

failed to report her receipt of free cow elk tags and lodging in December
2008 and December 2009 on her submitted CFDRs (Attachments 91 and 92). During her initial
interview, we discussed her annual CFDR filings with BLM (see Attachment 80) and why she had not
disclosed her receipt of the elk tags in February 2009 (see Attachment 91) and January 2010 (see
Attachment 92). She told us that she did not know the tags were considered gifts, because she never
asked her husband where he had obtained them (see Attachment 80).
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VIII. Investigation of the Unauthorized Commercial Shooting Range
Overview: We learned that in 2006 a BLM employee discovered a commercial shooting range on
BLM property in Farmington. Although he reportedly informed a BLM assistant field manager about
the unauthorized range, the employee discovered that the range still existed and that numerous
improvements had been made to it 3 years later. The employee reported the trespass to another BLM
manager, which resulted in a follow-up BLM investigation preceding OIG’s investigation.
Our investigation revealed that
circumvented BLM policy, providing approval for
, a local firearms dealer and trainer, to continue operating the range in a BLM gravel pit. His
actions may have violated ethical standards by providing preferential treatment to the range operator,
failing to avoid actions creating an appearance of impropriety, and misusing his position to provide
approval to an individual he was affiliated with in a non-Government capacity under 5 CFR §§
2635.101(b)(8)(14), 2635.702(a). We found that
also may have lied to investigators, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001, by denying his reported involvement with
, in which he
authorized him to construct a commercial shooting range on public lands.
BLM Policy on Shooting Ranges
BLM policy prohibited the Bureau from operating shooting ranges or from issuing new leases for
ranges on public lands, principally because of its potential liability for lead contamination. New ranges
cannot be authorized by any type of lease or other land use authorization that does not transfer fee title
to the applicant. Allocating public land for shooting sports areas and related facilities occurs through
direct sale under FLPMA section 203 or through patents issued under the Recreation and Public
Purposes Act of 1926 (R&PP), but BLM policy identifies the preferred method as a direct sale under
FLPMA. These policies were issued in February and December 2008 under Instruction Memoranda
2008-074 and 2008-074, Change 1 (Attachment 96). Although these memoranda expired in
September 2009, we found no other BLM policies or directives issued, relating to this matter, since
that time.
Record Reviews
BLM’s file on the unauthorized shooting range contained the following Internet information about
business, dated December 29, 2009 (Attachment 97):
•
•
•

Southwest Shooting Authority offered nearly 20 firearms-related classes for recreational
shooters, hunters, and individuals concerned about personal security.
The multistate concealed weapons course consisted of 16 hours of instruction, cost $150 per
person, and was offered monthly December 2009 through March 2010.
The business “expanded the range to allow more people to shoot and…added 2 more
instructors.”

Interviews of BLM Staff
, a BLM
who worked at the Farmington
BLM office between March 2006 and July 2010, said that he attended a concealed weapons carry class
offered by
, a local gun store owner and concealed weapons permit training instructor
sometime in 2006 (Attachment 98). The training included several nights of classroom instruction and
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•
•

18 U.S.C. § 1512 – Witness Tampering
18 U.S.C. § 207 – Conflicts of Interest

Basic Obligation of Public Service
•
•
•
•
•

5 CFR § 2635.101(b)(5) – Employees shall put forth honest effort in the performance of
their duties.
5 CFR § 2635.101(b)(7) – Employees shall not use public office for private gain.
5 CFR § 2635.101(b)(8) – Employees shall act impartially and not give preferential
treatment to any private organization or individual.
5 CRF § 2635.101(b)(10) – Employees shall not engage in outside employment or
activities, including seeking or negotiating for employment, that conflict with official
Government duties and responsibilities.
5 CFR § 2635.101(b)(14) - Employees shall endeavor to avoid any actions creating the
appearance that they are violating the law or the ethical standards….Whether particular
circumstances create an appearance that the law or these standards have been violated
shall be determined from the perspective of a reasonable person with knowledge of the
relevant facts.

Gifts from Outside Sources
•
•
•
•
•

•

•

5 CFR § 2635.202(a) – An employee shall not, directly or indirectly, solicit or accept a
gift: (1) from a prohibited source; or (2) given because of the employee’s official
position.
5 CFR § 2635.202(c )(1) – An employee shall not accept a gift in return for being
influenced in the performance of an official act.
5 CFR § 2635.202(c)(2) – An employee shall not solicit or coerce the offering of a gift.
5 CFR § 2635.202(c)(3) –An employee may not accept gifts from the same or different
sources on a basis so frequent that a reasonable person would be led to believe the
employee is using public office for private gain.
5 CFR§ 2635.203(b) – Defines a gift as any gratuity, favor, discount, entertainment, hospitality,
loan, forbearance, or other item having monetary value. It includes services as well as gifts of
training, transportation, local travel, lodging and meals, whether provided in-kind, by purchase
of a ticket, payment in advance, or reimbursement after the expense has been incurred.
5 CFR § 2635.203(d)(1) – Defines a prohibited source as any person who: 1) Is seeking official
action by the employee’s agency; 2) Does business or seeks to do business with the employee’s
agency; 3) Conducts activities regulated by the employee’s agency; 4) Has interests that may be
substantially affected by performance of nonperformance of the employee’s official duties; or
5) Is an organization a majority of whose members are described in paragraphs (d)(1) through
(4) of this section.
5 U.S.C. § 7353 – a) Except as permitted by subsection (b), no Member of Congress or officer
or employee of the executive, legislative, or judicial branch shall solicit or accept anything of
value from a person (1) seeking official action from, doing business with, or (in the case of
executive branch officers and employees) conducting activities regulated by, the individual’s
employing entity; or (2) whose interests may be substantially affected by the performance or
nonperformance of the individual’s official duties.
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